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 MEMORANDUM OF THE UNITED STATES 
 IN OPPOSITION TO DEFENDANT’S MOTIONS TO DISMISS  
 

The United States of America, by its attorney, Preet 

Bharara, United States Attorney for the Southern District of New 

York, Carrie H. Cohen and Paul M. Krieger, Assistant United States 

Attorneys, of counsel, respectfully submits this Memorandum of Law 

in Opposition to Defendant’s Motions to Dismiss.  For the reasons 

set forth below, the defendant’s motions are without merit and should 

be denied in their entirety. 

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

  The defendant’s claim of selective prosecution is a 

disingenuous attempt to avoid the undisputed facts in this case, 

which establish the defendant’s guilt beyond a reasonable doubt.  

The defendant essentially concedes his illegal conduct, namely, that 

the defendant “asked two individuals, and their spouses, to donate 

$10,000 to Ms. Long’s campaign, with the understanding that Mr. 
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D’Souza would fully reimburse them” and that those two individuals 

did so “as a favor to D’Souza with whom they were both very close.”  

(Affidavit of Benjamin Brafman in Support of the Pretrial Motions 

of the Defendant Dinesh D’Souza, sworn to April 17, 2014 (“Brafman 

Aff.”) ¶¶ 25, 27.)   

Faced with overwhelming evidence his guilt, the defendant 

now seizes upon the fact that he is an outspoken critic of the Obama 

administration as an excuse to avoid the consequences of his actions.  

The defendant presents no evidence to the Court to support his claim 

of selective prosecution, only speculation and idle suspicion based 

upon the coincidence that he has criticized the Obama administration 

and now is being prosecuted by the federal government during Obama’s 

Presidency.  The defendant’s selective prosecution claim thus 

should be rejected. 

Similarly without merit are the defendant’s claims that 

the statutes at issue here are unconstitutionally vague and overbroad 

and that Count Two of the Indictment fails to state a claim. 

BACKGROUND 

  The defendant is charged in a two-count Indictment.  Count 

One charges that in August 2012 the defendant violated federal 

campaign finance laws by contributing $20,000 to the Senate campaign 

of Wendy Long for New York (“Long Campaign”) in the names of other 
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individuals, in violation of the Federal Election Campaign Act 

(“FECA”), Title 2, United States Code, Sections 441f and 

437g(d)(1)(D).  Count Two of the Indictment charges the defendant 

with causing the Long Campaign to file materially false reports with 

the Federal Election Commission (“FEC”) about the source of the 

campaign contributions charged in Count One, in violation of Title 

18, United States Code, Sections 1001(a)(2) and 2.  

  The Government will prove beyond a reasonable doubt at 

trial that the defendant engaged in conduit contribution fraud.  The 

evidence at trial will show that the defendant directed two 

individuals – Tyler Vawser (“Vawser”), who worked for the defendant, 

and Denise Joseph (“Ms. Joseph”), with whom the defendant was living 

and having an extramarital affair (and who at times did some work 

for the defendant) – to make contributions to the Long Campaign on 

behalf of themselves and their respective spouses (collectively the 

“Vawsers” and the “Josephs”) with the understanding and promise that 

the defendant would pay them back for their contributions, which he 

did.  The Government will establish the requisite intent for Count 

One, namely, that the defendant acted knowingly and willfully because 

he knew he was doing something that the law forbids.  The expected 

evidence at trial will show that the defendant knew and understood 

the monetary limit on an individual contribution to a federal 
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candidate.  Specifically, the Government will seek to introduce 

documents related to the defendant’s (and his wife’s) contribution 

to the Long Campaign and e-mails between the Long Campaign and the 

defendant expressly discussing the individual contribution limit.   

  The Government also will prove that the defendant knew he 

was doing something the law forbids through expected testimony that 

the defendant both instructed Vawser to lie about his contribution 

and lied to Wendy Long about the Vawsers’ contribution and the 

Josephs’ contribution.  Specifically, the Government expects Vawser 

to testify at trial that when the defendant asked him to make the 

donation to the Long Campaign with the promise that the defendant 

would reimburse Vawser for the donation, Vawser asked the defendant 

if what the defendant was asking Vawser to do was permissible.  The 

defendant responded, in sum and substance, that if anyone asked 

Vawser about the donation, Vawser should tell them that Vawswer knows 

Wendy Long and supports her candidacy.   

  The Government expects Ms. Long to testify that, on more 

than one occasion, she questioned the defendant about the Josephs’ 

contribution to her campaign as well as the Vawsers’ contribution 

in part because the Vawsers and the Josephs were not typical of other 

donors and were connected to the defendant.  The defendant 

responded, in sum and substance, not to worry and that they both had 
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sufficient funds with which to make the donations.  The defendant’s 

lies to the candidate as well as his instruction to Vawser to lie 

about his donation if questioned about it highlight the willfulness 

and egregiousness of the defendant’s criminal conduct. 

ARGUMENT 

I. The Defendant’s Motion To Dismiss The Indictment For  
Selective Prosecution Is Without Merit And Should Be Denied
  

A defendant challenging the Government=s prosecutorial 

decisions bears a heavy burden.  It is well settled that the 

Government retains Abroad discretion as to whom to prosecute,” 

because the Adecision to prosecute is particularly ill-suited to 

judicial review.@  Wayte v. United States, 470 U.S. 598, 607 (1985).  

Accordingly, a presumption of regularity supports the Government=s 

prosecutorial decisions and thus the standard for proving a selective 

prosecution claim is “a demanding one.”  United States v. Armstrong, 

517 U.S. 456, 463 (1996) (reversing grant of discovery on defendant=s 

claim of selective prosecution).  The rationale for the presumption 

is that A[e]xamining the basis of a prosecution delays the criminal 

proceeding, threatens to chill law enforcement by subjecting the 

prosecutor=s motives and decisionmaking to outside inquiry, and may 

undermine prosecutorial effectiveness by revealing the Government=s 

enforcement policy.@  Id. at 465 (citations omitted).  Accordingly, 

A[i]n our system, so long as the prosecutor has probable cause to 
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believe that the accused committed an offense defined by statute, 

the decision whether or not to prosecute . . . generally rests 

entirely in his discretion.@  Bordenkircher v. Hayes, 434 U.S. 357, 

364 (1978).  

The defendant asserts, without any support, that the 

charges against him are an attempt to “punish[]” him for his 

well-known opposition to President Obama, his administration, and 

his policies.  (Defendant’s Memorandum of Law in Support of Motion 

to Dismiss Pursuant to Fed. R. Cr. P. 12(b) (“Def. Mem.”) at 22).)  

ABut to engage in a collateral inquiry respecting prosecutorial 

motive, there must be more than mere suspicion or surmise.  If a 

judicial inquiry into the government=s motive for prosecuting could 

be launched without an adequate factual showing of impropriety, it 

would lead far too frequently to judicial intrusion on the power of 

the executive branch to make prosecutorial decisions.@  United 

States v. Moon, 718 F.2d 1210, 1230 (2d Cir. 1983).   

The factual history set forth above belies any claim of 

animus on the Government=s part.  If anything, the record 

demonstrates that the defendant is exploiting the fact that he 

happens to be an outspoken critic of President Obama in a baseless 

attempt to avoid criminal prosecution.  Indeed, what defendant seeks 

through his motion is de facto immunity for making fraudulent 
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election contributions that the defendant all but concedes violate 

federal criminal law.  The Court should not entertain such an 

attempt.   

A. The Defendant Is Not A Victim Of Selective Prosecution 
 

The standard for proving a selective prosecution claim is 

Aa demanding one,@  Armstrong, 517 U.S. at 463, and requires a 

defendant to make a prima facie showing both: A(1) that, while others 

similarly situated have not generally been proceeded against because 

of conduct of the type forming the basis of the charge against [the 

defendant], he has been singled out for prosecution, and (2) that 

the government=s discriminatory selection of [the defendant] for 

prosecution has been invidious or in bad faith, i.e., based upon such 

impermissible considerations as race, religion, or the desire to 

prevent his exercise of constitutional rights.@  United States v. 

Fares, 978 F.2d 52, 59 (2d Cir. 1992) (internal quotations omitted).  

See also United States v. Alameh, 341 F.3d 167, 173 (2d Cir. 2003) 

(defendant must Aprovide >clear evidence= that the prosecutorial 

decision or policy in question had both a discriminatory effect and 

. . . was motivated by a discriminatory purpose@) (internal quotations 

omitted).   

As the Supreme Court has noted, Aselective prosecution 

implies that a selection has taken place.@  Armstrong, 517 U.S. at 
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469 (citation omitted).  In other words, a defendant must establish 

that Aothers similarly situated have not generally been proceeded 

against because of conduct of the type forming the basis of the charge 

against the [the defendant]@ and that the defendant has been Asingled 

out.@  Fares, 978 F.2d at 59 (quoting Moon, 718 F.2d at 1229). 

1. The Defendant Cannot Show That Similarly  
 Situated Individuals Were Treated Differently 
 
In order to succeed on the first required prong of a 

selective prosecution claim, the defendant is required to 

demonstrate that the Government does not bring conduit campaign 

contribution charges against others similarly situated to him.  See 

United States v. Bass, 536 U.S. 862, 864 (2002) (A[R]aw statistics 

regarding overall charges say nothing about charges brought against 

similarly situated defendants.@) (emphasis in original);                                    

United States v. Stewart, 590 F.3d 93, 121 (2d Cir. 2009) (selective 

prosecution claim failed where defendant=s misconduct differed from 

others whom defendant claimed were similarly situated); United 

States v. Chalmers, 474 F. Supp. 2d 555, 568-69 (S.D.N.Y. 2007) 

(defendant failed to demonstrate that others not prosecuted were 

similarly situated).  AA similarly situated offender is one outside 

the protected class who has committed roughly the same crime under 

roughly the same circumstances but against whom the law has not been 

enforced.@  United States v. Lewis, 517 F.3d 20, 27 (1st Cir. 2008).  
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See also United States v. Smith, 231 F.3d 800, 811 (11th Cir. 2000) 

(defendants Amust establish that the government could prove beyond 

a reasonable doubt that someone else had engaged in the same type 

of conduct, committing the same crime in that or substantially the 

same manner@); United States v. Olvis, 97 F.3d 739, 744 (4th Cir. 1996) 

(A[D]efendants are similarly situated when their circumstances 

present no distinguishable legitimate prosecutorial factors that 

might justify making different prosecutorial decisions with respect 

to them.@). 

Accordingly, the defendant must, but does not, demonstrate 

that the Government does not bring conduit campaign contribution 

charges against other individuals who are in circumstances 

substantially similar to his own, and not simply against those who 

oppose the current administration.  See, e.g., United States v. 

Santos, 98 Cr. 736, 1999 WL 4912, at *6 (S.D.N.Y. Jan. 5, 1999) 

(statistical evidence reflecting infrequency with which accusations 

of excessive force by police officers resulted in federal 

prosecutions for deprivation of rights under color of law was 

insufficient to establish that defendant was Adisparately treated 

from other law enforcement officers who have engaged in comparable 

assaults@); United States v. Sutcliffe, 505 F.3d 944, 954 (9th Cir. 

2007) (defendant who made numerous, credible threats of serious 
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violence and uncharged individual who sent single, comparatively 

tame email threat were not similarly situated); United States v. 

Hedaithy, 392 F.3d 580 (3d Cir. 2004) (defendant charged with scheme 

to cheat on standardized English proficiency exam not entitled to 

discovery on selective prosecution claim notwithstanding allegation 

that several thousand people cheated on exam each year, where 

defendant failed to show that similarly situated individuals of 

different races participated in conspiracies of similar scope but 

were not prosecuted). 

The defendant cannot demonstrate that the Government fails 

to bring conduit contribution fraud cases against similarly situated 

defendants who do not criticize the Obama Administration because the 

record is in fact replete with conduit prosecutions of political 

activists of all stripes.  As conceded in the defendant’s motion, 

(see Brafman Aff. ¶¶ 51-55), during the current Presidential 

Administration, the Department of Justice and indeed this United 

States Attorney’s Office and the United States Attorney’s Office for 

the Eastern District of New York have prosecuted conduit contribution 

cases against Democrats and Republicans alike.  See, e.g., United 

States v. Jenny Hou and Oliver Pan, 12 Cr. 153 (RJS)(S.D.N.Y.) 

(defendants charged with straw donor fraud in connection with 

Democratic candidate for New York City office with Pan responsible 
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for eight donors totaling approximately $8,000 in matching funds); 

United States v. Albert Baldeo, S1 13 Cr. 125 (PAC) (S.D.N.Y.) 

(defendant charged with conduit contribution fraud for soliciting 

approximately $15,000 in straw donations from seven individuals for 

a Democratic candidate for New York City office); United States v. 

Diana Durand, 13 Mag. 724 (E.D.N.Y.) (defendant charged with conduit 

contribution fraud for  soliciting $14,000 in straw donations from 

two individuals with whom she was friends and one individual to whom 

she was related for a Republican candidate for the U.S. House of 

Representatives); United States v. Sant Singh Chatwal, 14 Cr. 143 

(ILG) (E.D.N.Y.) (defendant pleaded guilty for making $188,000 in 

straw donor campaign contributions to three Democratic candidates 

for federal office, including the offices of the President, Senator, 

and Member of the House of Representatives); see also cases cited 

infra below. 

Given that the Government manifestly has brought conduit 

contribution cases against others, the defendant engages in a 

torturous effort to find distinguishing facts about other conduit 

contribution cases.  For example, the defendant focuses on the 

relatively small dollar amount of the donations at issue here and 

the small number of straw donors involved, but ignores other 

prosecutions in which the defendant was prosecuted for straw 
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donations involving only a few individuals and comparable (or even 

lower) dollar amounts than the $20,000 in straw donations by four 

individuals at issue here.  See United States v. Diana Durand, 13 

Mag. 724 (E.D.N.Y.) (defendant charged with conduit contribution 

fraud for  soliciting $14,000 in straw donations from two 

individuals with whom she was friends and one individual to whom she 

was related for a candidate for the U.S. House of Representatives); 

United States v. Jay Odom, 12 Cr. 76 (LAC)(M.D. Fla.)(defendant pled 

guilty to soliciting the total amount of $23,000 from ten straw 

donors, all of whom were employees of his business entities, to a 

Presidential candidate); United States v. George Tirado and Benjamin 

Hogan, 12 Cr. 157 (JBA)(D. Conn.) (defendants pled guilty to 

soliciting two and three, respectively, straw donations to a 

candidate for the U.S. House of Representatives); United States v. 

Jian-Yun “John” Dong, 11 Cr. 511 (RMG)(D.S.C.) (defendant found 

guilty after trial for making straw donations to a candidate for the 

U.S. Senate from his business’s employees and his family members 

totaling $30,000); United States v. John Junker, 12 Cr. 511 (DGC) 

(D. Ariz.) (defendant charged with soliciting from co-workers the 

total amount of $25,000 in straw donations); United States v. Jerry 

Pierce-Santos, 09 Cr. 014 (EGS) (D.D.C.) (defendant pled guilty to 

conduit contribution fraud for using ten straw donors to make a total 

Case 1:14-cr-00034-RMB   Document 35   Filed 04/24/14   Page 14 of 37



 

13 
 

of $17,000 in conduit contributions).   

While the defendant argues that these cases all are 

distinguishable in various ways from the instant case, e.g., they 

involved an intent to corrupt a candidate or the political process 

(see Def. Mem. at 52-54), the supposed distinctions are without a 

difference.  Indeed, there are factors in the instant case that are 

equally or more egregious than those in otherwise comparable 

prosecutions.  For example, in this case, the defendant abused his 

position of authority as the employer of straw donor Vawser and as 

the romantic partner of straw donor Ms. Joseph (who also believed 

initially that she was supposed to help him with his work) to bring 

them into his unlawful scheme.  Indeed, he even instructed straw 

donor Vawser, who feared that the defendant was asking him to do 

something illegal or wrong, to lie to anyone who asked about the 

donation by claiming that he knew Ms. Long and supported her 

candidacy.   

Even more significantly, in this case, the defendant 

making the conduit contributions actually was suspected by the 

candidate and, the evidence will show at trial, repeatedly lied to 

the candidate to mask his criminal activity.  The defendant’s 

outright lies to a federal candidate for the Senate who was attempting 

herself to comply with the federal election campaign laws make the 
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defendant’s conduct that much more insidious.  It also makes a 

criminal prosecution to deter such conduct and preserve the integrity 

of the campaign finance system that much more significant. 

In short, the comparison of the (unsurprising) factual 

differences in different prosecutions only serves to highlight that 

the defendant has failed, under any type of analysis, to meet his 

heavy burden to present similarly situated individuals who were not 

prosecuted.   

2. The Defendant Has Not Shown Bias 
 

Even if the defendant could show a discriminatory effect, 

which he cannot, his selective prosecution claim still should be 

denied because he also fails to satisfy the second requirement for 

a selective prosecution claim, Athat the government=s discriminatory 

selection of [the defendant] for prosecution has been invidious or 

in bad faith@  Fares, 978 F.2d at 59.  ADiscriminatory purpose . . 

. implies more than . . . intent as awareness of consequences.  It 

implies that the decisionmaker . . . selected or reaffirmed a 

particular course of action at least in part because of, not merely 

in spite of, its adverse effects upon an identifiable group.@  Wayte, 

470 U.S. at 610 (internal quotations omitted).     

The defendant claims that the Government=s Adiscriminatory 

purpose@ was to retaliate against him for his outspoken opposition 
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to the President; he does not allege any other impermissible 

consideration, such as his race or national origin.  As an initial 

matter, the defendant’s claim fails because he does not assert or 

offer any evidence concerning the actual decisionmakers in this case.  

Indeed, the defense does not actually claim that any particular 

person had a discriminatory purpose but rather just asks “why” he 

was prosecuted given his outspoken anti-Obama beliefs.  (Brafman 

Aff. ¶ 11.)   

As the defendant alleges that his prosecution is the result 

of Obama’s “rage” at him, (Brafman Aff. ¶ 22), the Government infers 

that the defendant is arguing that the President or White House 

Officials discriminated against him.  The defendant, however, fails 

to offer any evidence that the President or White House Officials 

had any part in the decision to prosecute him (because, of course, 

none did).  In reality, this investigation began as a public source 

review by the Federal Bureau of Investigation’s New York Office 

(“FBI”) of the most recent federal campaign in New York, which was 

the 2012 Senate race in which Ms. Long ran against now Senator Kirsten 

Gillibrand.  The publically available FEC filings readily revealed 

red flags about donations made by the defendant and those publically 

associated with him that, with minimal follow-up, established proof 

of a crime. 
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In addition, the defendant’s bias contention easily is 

dismissed as he presents no proof of actual bias by any actor.  The 

reality is that in virtually every case involving conduit campaign 

contributions the defendant is likely to be involved in politics in 

one way or another, and the types of claims the defendant makes here 

could be made in virtually every conduit contribution case where the 

defendant does not support the politics of the current President. 

Faced with this fundamental weakness, the defendant asks 

this Court to infer bias from i) the undisputed fact that the 

prosecution was not based on a criminal referral from the FEC; ii) 

the timing of the investigation; and iii) the alleged speed with which 

the matter moved from investigation to indictment.  (Brafman Aff. 

¶¶ 9, 10.)  As set forth below, these claims are A[m]ere speculation,@ 

Chalmers, 474 F. Supp. 2d at 569, and are far from sufficient to show 

discriminatory purpose. 

First, while the defense is correct that the FEC has 

“exclusive authority and responsibility for the civil enforcement 

of . . . federal campaign finance laws,” (Brafman Aff. ¶ 31) (citation 

omitted), it also is undisputed that the FEC does not have exclusive  

jurisdiction to investigate and refer criminal cases to the 

Department of Justice.  Accordingly, it is undisputed that the FBI 

(and other federal, state, or local law enforcement agencies) also 
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can investigate potential criminal violations of the campaign 

finance laws and bring proof of those violations to the attention 

of prosecutors’ offices.1  Thus, the indictment did not “bypass[]” 

the FEC’s “routine procedures,” (Def. Mem. at 22-23), as it was the 

FBI, not the FEC, that found the wrongdoing and referred it to this 

Office for further investigation and prosecution, if warranted.  

Indeed, it is absolutely routine – and the defendant does not present 

evidence to the contrary – that public corruption cases brought by 

this Office are initiated not only following referrals from 

regulatory agencies but based on investigative work of various law 

enforcement agencies, in particular the FBI, as well as the Office’s 

own criminal investigators. 

To the extent the defendant is arguing that the alleged 

infrequency with which the FBI investigates campaign conduct cases 

supports his claim, such argument fails as well.  A charge rarely 

brought (or investigated) by a particular law enforcement agency does 

not necessarily equate to a charge selectively brought.  See United 

States v. Berrios, 501 F.2d 1207, 1211 (2d Cir. 1974) (“Mere 

‘conscious exercise of some selectivity in enforcement is not in 

itself a federal constitutional violation.’”) (quoting Oyler v. 

                     
1 Defendant again claims without support that the FBI should have referred the case 
to the FEC, rather than this Office, for a civil resolution because that is “more 
often than not” how these cases proceed.  Of course, as set forth above, here the 
proof that the defendant violated the criminal laws is strong thus making 
prosecution rather than a civil resolution warranted. 
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Boles, 368 U.S. 448, 456 (1962)).  Moreover, the FBI has been 

involved with other conduit campaign fraud cases referenced herein. 

Second, the defendant’s suspicious timing claim also can 

be rejected out of hand.  Here, the timing of the investigation 

relates solely to the timing of the election and not, as the defendant 

claims, to any particular act by the defendant.  The defendant, by 

his own submission, has been an Obama critic dating back at least 

to 2010.  (Brafman Aff. ¶ 16.)  The New York Senate election took 

place in November 2012.  Accordingly, it is unremarkable that the 

FBI review of public source materials commenced sometime after that 

election.   

Lastly, the defendant claims that he must have been singled 

out for prosecution because of the supposedly “virtually 

unprecedented” time from investigation to indictment.  (Brafman 

Aff. ¶ 64.)  This claim should be rejected out of hand for several 

reasons.  As an initial matter, there is nothing particularly speedy 

about the timing here, especially given the limited number of 

witnesses and documents involved.  Second, as even the defense 

admitted to this Court, this case is not particularly complicated 

and can be tried in a matter of days.  Accordingly, the fact that 

one of the straw donors was interviewed in April 2013, more than five 

months after the election, and the Indictment was filed more than 
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a year after the election again is unremarkable.   

Second, the chart supplied by the defendant, (see Brafman 

Aff. ¶ 65), proves nothing and is fatally flawed.  That chart, on 

its face, only contains the contribution date at issue and the 

indictment date.  The chart does not contain any information about 

when the investigation began and thus does not even demonstrate the 

irrelevant point the defendant seeks to make, namely, that a typical 

campaign finance investigation takes much longer from inception to 

indictment than the instant case.    

B. The Defendant Is Not Entitled To Discovery 
 

The defendant is not entitled to receive discovery in the 

hope of substantiating his unsupported allegations of selective 

prosecution.  ATo warrant discovery with respect to a claim of 

selective prosecution, a defendant must present at least some 

evidence tending to show the existence of the essential elements of 

the defense . . . [m]ere assertions and generalized proffers on 

information and belief are insufficient.@  Fares, 978 F.2d at 59 

(citations and internal quotations omitted).  The Supreme Court has 

explained that Athe showing necessary to obtain discovery@ on a 

selective prosecution claim Ashould itself be a significant barrier 

to the litigation of insubstantial claims.@  Armstrong, 517 U.S. at 

464.   
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The defendant=s naked allegations, barren of any evidence 

that the Government is selectively prosecuting him C let alone the 

Asome evidence@ the case law requires C provide an insufficient ground 

to justify throwing open the Government=s files.  Indeed, it would 

be hard to draw the line on the scope of such discovery as relevant 

discovery potentially would include internal communications between 

Assistant United States Attorneys and attorney work product 

memorandum and e-mails.  

Moreover, if the defendant were able, on the basis of the 

generalized allegations he has made, to obtain discovery to pursue 

a selective prosecution claim, so too would every other defendant 

who could claim that he was involved in politics contrary to the then 

President of the United States.  That sort of interference with the 

criminal process would slow corruption prosecutions in particular 

to a crawl.  It is for precisely this reason that the Supreme Court 

requires real evidence of real discrimination before allowing 

discovery, not suspicions that are fanciful or imagined or supposed.  

Id. at 468-70.  As the defendant has failed to meet that standard, 

his motion to dismiss, or to obtain discovery, should be denied. 

II. Count Two States A Valid Charge 
 

The defendant argues that Count Two is invalid because the 

straw donor contributions reported by the campaign were “true as far 
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as they went,” and that the fact that those contributions were at 

their inception going to be reimbursed by the defendant does not 

render the report false.  (Def. Mem. at 17.)  This argument can be 

dismissed as a matter of statutory interpretation, case law, and 

common sense. 

The defendant is charged with causing a false statement 

to the FEC regarding the source and amount of the contributions made 

in the name of the Vawsers and the Josephs.  To determine whether 

such a report was false, the Court first needs to determine the 

meaning of “contribution” under the FECA.   

The FECA requires that political committees file periodic 

reports containing, among other things, “[t]he identification of 

each – (A) person . . . who makes a contribution to the reporting 

committee during the reporting period. . . .”  2 U.S.C. § 434(b)(3).  

“Contribution” is defined, in relevant part, as “any gift, 

subscription, loan, advance, or deposit of money or anything of value 

made by any person for the purpose of influencing any election for 

Federal office.”  2 U.S.C. § 431(8)(A)(i).  The FECA also provides 

that “all contributions made by a person, either directly or 

indirectly, on behalf of a particular candidate, including 

contributions which are in any way earmarked or otherwise directed 

through an intermediary of conduit to such candidate, shall be 
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treated as contributions from such person to such candidate.”  2 

U.S.C. § 441a(a)(8).  Finally, the FEC specifically states that 

“[n]o person shall make a contribution in the name of another person 

. . . .”  2 U.S.C. § 441f. 

Accordingly, the FECA’s demand for identification of the 

person who makes the contribution is not a demand for a report on 

the person in whose name the money is given; rather it refers to the 

true source of the money.  To limit falsity in this context to the 

person who actually transmits the funds to the campaign “flies in 

the face of the dictionary and ordinary usage of the word contribution 

. . . ordinarily, when we speak of someone giving a gift, we consider 

the giver to be the source of the gift, not any intermediary who simply 

conveys the gift from the donor to the donee.”  United States v. 

Boender, 649 F.3d 650, 660 (7th Cir. 2011). 

That the contributor is the true source of the money is 

reinforced by the statutory purpose.  Congress enacted Section 441f 

as part of the FECA in order to ensure the complete and accurate 

disclosure of contributors to federal elections.  See United States 

v. O’Donnell, 608 F.3d 546, 553-54 (9th Cir. 2010); see also McCutcheon 

v. Federal Election Comm’n, No. 12-536, 134 S. Ct. 1434, 2014 U.S. 

LEXIS 2391, at *12 (Apr. 2, 2014) (“Our cases have held that Congress 

may regulate campaign contributions to protect against corruption 
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or the appearance of corruption.”).  Accordingly, reading Section 

441f to apply to straw donors “is entirely consistent with this 

purpose, because such contributions undermine transparency no less 

than false name contributions do by shielding the identities of true 

contributors.”  O’Donnell, 608 F.3d at 554 (thus holding that it is 

“implausible that Congress, in seeking to promote transparency, 

would have understood the relevant contributor to be the intermediary 

who merely transmitted the campaign gift”).      

Based on such rationale, courts that have considered the 

defendant’s argument here (or similar challenges to Section 441f) 

have rejected it.  See United States v. Hsia, 176 F.3d 517, 524 (D.C. 

Cir. 1999) (“Hsia I”) (rejecting argument that the name of the straw 

donor was “literary true” for purposes of 1001 charge because the 

provisions of the FECA that require the identification of the 

contributor and are “not a demand for a report on the person in whose 

name money is given; it refers to the true source of the money”); 

United States v. Hsia, 30 Fed. Appx. 1, 2 (D.C. Cir. 2001) (“Hsia 

II”)(rejecting again Hsia’s claim that the FEC reports were not false 

because they reported the name of the purported true contributor and 

stating that to hold otherwise would be “contrary to basic elements 

of the statutory reporting scheme”); see Boender, 649 F.3d 650 

(rejecting challenge to Section 441f based on argument that only the 
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person who actually transmits the funds to a campaign makes the 

contribution because the statute unambiguously proscribes straw man, 

as well as false name, contributions); O’Donnell, 608 F.3d 546 

(same).   

As the “contributor” is the true source of the funds 

contributed, and not the person who acts merely as an intermediary 

or as a straw donor, the Government will be able to demonstrate beyond 

a reasonable doubt at trial that the campaign reports at issue are 

not literally true because the conduits were not legally or factually 

the contributors.   Accordingly, the defendant’s motion to dismiss 

Count Two of the Indictment should be denied. 

III. The Defendant’s Constitutional Claims Are Without Merit 
 

The defendant moves to dismiss the Indictment as 

unconstitutional on the grounds that i) the Supreme Court’s decision 

in McCutcheon striking down the FECA’s aggregate contribution limits 

somehow renders the FECA’s straw donor prohibition, 2 U.S.C. § 441f, 

unconstitutionally overbroad and vague; and (ii) that the penalty 

provision of the FECA at issue here, 2 U.S.C. § 437g(d)(1)(D), is 

unconstitutionally vague.  As more fully set forth below, neither 

argument has any merit and the defendant’s motions should be denied. 

A. Section 441f Is Constitutional  
And Unaffected By McCutcheon 

 
The defendant here is charged in Count One with violating 
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Section 441f of the FECA.  Section 441f provides that “[n]o person 

shall make a contribution in the name of another person . . .,” 2 

U.S.C. § 441f, and long has been construed to prohibit what is 

commonly referred to as conduit campaign contribution fraud or straw 

donor contributions.  See cases cited infra.  The defendant claims 

that the Supreme Court’s recent decision in McCutcheon, which held 

that the FECA’s limit on the dollar amount of aggregate contributions 

violates free speech rights guaranteed by the First Amendment, 

somehow renders Section 441f’s prohibition on conduit contribution 

fraud unconstitutionally vague and overbroad because Section 441f 

does not distinguish between aggregate limits and base limits.2  (See 

Def. Mem. at 6-7).  Nothing in the McCutcheon ruling, however, 

relates in any way to Section’s 441f prohibition of conduit 

contribution fraud for any type of contribution nor casts any doubt 

on the application of Section 441f to all federal campaign donations.   

Section 441f simply requires that, as to all 

contributions, the actual source of the contribution must be named.  

This plainly helps avoid circumvention of the base limits and ensures 

that the electorate knows who is providing campaign dollars in 

federal elections.  Accordingly, while post-McCutcheon there is no 

                     
2 Base limits restrict how much money a donor may contribute to a particular 
candidate or committee.  2 U.S.C. § 441a(a)(1).  Aggregate limits restrict how 
much money a donor may contribute in total to all candidates.  2 U.S.C. § 
441a(a)(3). 
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dollar limit on aggregate donations, such donations still must be 

made in the name of the true source of the donation.  Or put another 

way, the base limits remain valid after McCutcheon and even though 

a person can now contribute up to the base limits for an unlimited 

number of candidates (i.e., the aggregate cap is gone), Section 441f 

still serves the valid and essential purpose of ensuring that the 

contributor adheres to the base limits for each candidate to whom 

he contributes.  Indeed, the defendant concedes that the base limits 

remain valid, (see Def. Mem. at 4), and provides no intelligible 

explanation why Section 441f does not continue to protect the 

compelling government interest in preventing contributions in excess 

of the base limits that would threaten corruption or its appearance 

as to individual candidates, (see Def. Mem. at 4-5 (asserting only 

that precluding contributions above the aggregate limit “fun [sic:  

run] afoul of free speech” and that Section 441f “ambiguously” bans 

them)). 

Indeed, the Supreme Court in McCutcheon stressed the 

importance of the FECA’s “permissible objective of combatting 

corruption.”3  McCutcheon v. Federal Election Comm’n, 134 S. Ct. 

1434, 1442 (2014).  Even the defendant concedes that the prohibition 

in Section 441f serves the anticorruption and anti-“appearance of 

                     
3 Importantly, the defendant does not argue that the base limits at issue in this 
case actually violate the First Amendment.  (See Def. Mem. at 7).   
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corruption” purposes of contribution limits as applied to straw donor 

contributions to any one particular candidate.  (Def. Mem. at 3 n.1.)   

Importantly, McCutcheon directly supports the 

constitutionality of Section 441f in at least two respects.  First, 

McCutcheon reaffirmed that “disclosure of contributions minimizes 

the potential for abuse of the campaign finance system.”  134 S. Ct. 

at 1459.  Disclosure serves the government’s interest in ensuring 

that the electorate has information about elections related expenses 

and deters both actual corruption and its appearance.  Id.  Without 

Section 441f, however, disclosure would be close to meaningless 

because recipients of contributions would disclose the wrong names 

– not the names of the actual contributors – but of straw donors.  

Even in a regime without aggregate limits, the government still has 

an interest in ensuring disclosure of contributors to as many 

candidates as the real donor chooses to support.  See also Citizens 

United v. Federal Election Comm’n, 558 U.S. 310 (2010).   

Second, McCutcheon repeatedly reasons that the aggregate 

limitation warranted reconsideration decades after its decision 

Buckely v. Valeo, and failed a “closely drawn” analysis, in large 

part because more targeted earmarking and anti-proliferation 

measures limited the use of aggregate contribution dollars to evade 

the base contribution limits.  See McCutcheon, 134 S. Ct. at 1437, 
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1446 (noting that “statutory safeguards against circumvention have 

been considerably strengthened since Buckely was decided’ and that 

these “targeted anticircumvention measures” made aggregate limits 

“particularly heavy handed”).  But all those provisions would be 

close to meaningless if contributors were free to use straw donors 

to funnel funds to particular favored candidates.  Indeed, all of 

those provisions presuppose that contributors will donate in their 

own names and thus are bound by the particularized restrictions that 

avoid circumvention of the base limits through contributions to other 

candidates or committees. 

Even assuming arguendo that Section 441f somehow now does 

not apply to aggregate donations because aggregate donations (even 

if made through straw donors to hide the source of the true donor) 

are constitutionally protected speech, Section 441f still is 

constitutional when applied to base limits, as is charged here.  

Here, there is no dispute that the straw donor contributions made 

by the defendant exceeded his (and his spouse’s) base limit 

contribution of $10,000 ($5,000 each).  Nothing in McCutcheon 

renders the FECA’s prohibition on conduit contribution fraud even 

if read to apply only to base limits unconstitutionally vague or 

overboard.   
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1. Section 441f Is Not Unconstitutionally Vague 
 

To succeed on a void-for-vagueness argument the defendant 

must demonstrate that the penal statute at issue fails to “define 

the criminal offense with sufficient definiteness that ordinary 

people can understand what conduct is prohibited and in a manner that 

does not encourage arbitrary and discriminatory enforcement.”  

United States v. Nadirashvili, 655 F.3d 114, 121 (2d Cir. 2011) 

(quotation omitted).  “It has long been the Court’s practice, 

however, before striking a federal statute as impermissibly vague, 

to consider whether the prescription is amenable to a limiting 

construction.”  Skilling v. United States, 130 S. Ct. 2896, 2905  

(2010) (citing Hooper v. California, 155 U.S. 648, 657 (1895) (“The 

elementary rule is that every reasonable construction must be 

resorted to in order to save a statute from unconstitutionality.”)). 

Accordingly, the Supreme Court has “instructed ‘the 

federal courts . . . to avoid constitutional difficulties by 

[adopting a limiting interpretation] if such a construction is fairly 

possible.’”  Skilling, 130 S. Ct. at 2930-31 (quoting Boos v. Barry, 

485 U.S. 312, 331 (1988)); see United States v. Harriss, 347 U.S. 

612, 618 (1954) (“[I]f the general class of offenses to which the 

statute is directed is plainly within its terms, the statute will 

not be struck down as vague .... And if this general class of offenses 
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can be made constitutionally definite by a reasonable construction 

of the statute, this Court is under a duty to give the statute that 

construction.”). 

The federal campaign finance laws long have made obvious 

to “ordinary people” that straw donations are prohibited as well as 

that there are certain base limits that apply to an individual’s 

contribution to a particular candidate or committee.  Nothing in the 

Supreme Court’s McCutcheon decision renders the language of Section 

441f or the base limit language confusing, unclear, or 

unconstitutionally vague.  Accordingly, even on its merits, the 

defendant’s constitutional challenge to Section 441f on the ground 

that it now is void for vagueness should be rejected. 

2. Section 441f Is Not Unconstitutionally Overbroad 
 

As all the applications of Section 441f continue to be 

valid, no overbreadth problem exists.  Central to the reasoning of 

recent Supreme Court decisions is the notion that the mandatory 

disclosure of donor identity – and the ability of the public to know 

the connection between donors and candidates as well as the media 

to investigate links between contributions and official acts – 

mitigates concerns about the corrupting influence of campaign 

contributions.  See, e.g., McCutcheon, 134 S Ct. 1434; Citizens 

United, 558 U.S. 310.  To hold otherwise would fly in the face of 
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the FECA’s statutory purpose and would permit widespread campaign 

contribution fraud, as there would be nothing wrong with making straw 

donations to numerous candidates.  The defendant’s motion thus 

should be denied. 

The “overbreadth” doctrine permits a defendant to make a 

facial challenge to an overly broad statute restricting speech, even 

if the individual has engaged in speech that could be regulated under 

a more narrowly drawn statute.  See, e.g., City Council of Los 

Angeles v. Taxpayers for Vincent, 466 U.S. 789, 798-801 (1984).  A 

law is “substantially overbroad” when there is more than a mere 

possibility that the law might be applied in a way that violates the 

First Amendment; the standard is not met “in cases where, despite 

some possibly impermissible application, the remainder of the 

statute covers a whole range of easily identifiable and 

constitutionally proscribable conduct.”  Secretary of State of Md. 

v. Joseph H. Munson Co., 467 U.S. 947, 964-65 (1984) (internal 

quotation marks and alterations omitted); accord Taxpayers for 

Vincent, 466 U.S. at 800-01 & n.19; see Virginia v. Hicks, 539 U.S. 

113, 119 (2003) (substantiality requirement avoids “substantial 

social costs created by the overbreadth doctrine when it blocks 

application of a law to constitutionally unprotected speech”). 

Importantly, overbreadth challenges are rarely upheld.  
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Because of the wide-ranging effects of striking down a statute on 

its face at the request of one whose own conduct may be punished 

consistent with the First Amendment, the Supreme Court has recognized 

that the overbreadth doctrine “is, manifestly, strong medicine,” to 

be employed “sparingly and only as a last resort.”  Broadrick v. 

Oklahoma, 413 U.S. 601, 612-13 (1973).  Indeed, the Supreme Court 

cautions against application of the overbreadth doctrine to laws like 

Section 441f that are directed at pure conduct, the making of straw 

donations, and that only arguably incidentally sweep expressive 

conduct within their scope.  

  Even assuming arguendo there was some unconstitutional 

application of Section 441f post-McCutcheon, the defendant does not 

make the required showing that they are “real and substantial” in 

relation to the law’s legitimate sweep.  The core application of 

Section 441f is a case like the instant one, where the contributor 

was able to evade the base limits for a particular identified federal 

candidate through the use of straw donors.  Accordingly, even 

positing (wrongly) that McCutcheon has some relevance in showing 

certain applications of Section 441 to be unconstitutional as applied 

to aggregate donations, those instances have not been shown to be 

substantial in relation to the statute’s legitimate sweep.  

Accordingly, no overbreadth problem even hypothetically exists. 
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B. Section 437g(d)(1)(D)  
Is Not Unconstitutionally Vague 
 
The defendant next argues that Section 437g(d)(1)(D) also 

somehow is unconstitutionally vague because Section 441f uses the 

singular “contribution,” and “a person” and thus it is unclear if 

the penalty provision can apply to more than one contribution made 

by more than one person.  (Def. Mem. at 8.)  Section 437g’s penalty 

provision, however, is clear that if the amount involved in the 441f 

violation “aggregat[es] more than $10,000 during a calendar year,” 

but less than $25,000, the Section 441f violation is punishable by 

up to two years in prison.  2 U.S.C. § 437g(d)(1)(D)(i).  Simply 

because the straw donor prohibition provision of the FECA, Section 

441f, uses the words “contribution” and “person” in the singular, 

rather than the plural, that unremarkable fact does not render the 

related penalty provision unconstitutionally vague.   

Indeed, to hold otherwise would make the penalty 

provision, Section 437g(d)(1)(D), meaningless.  Because of the base 

limits, no one straw donation by any one person ever could be 

punishable under Section 437g requiring an amount of more than 

$10,000 because the straw donor contribution never would exceed the 

base limit, which for the time period at issue in this case, was 

$5,000.  Put another way, because in 2012, there was a base limit 

of $5,000 per individual to any one candidate, a straw donation to 
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any one candidate never would be made in excess of $5,000 because 

the candidate could not accept such a donation.  Surely, Congress 

did not enact a statute that would never be violated.  See, e.g., 

Connecticut ex rel. Blumenthal v. United States DOI, 228 F.3d 82, 

88 (2d Cir. 2000)(“[W]e are required to ‘disfavor interpretations 

of statutes that render language superfluous.’”) (quoting 

Connecticut Nat'l Bank v. Germain, 503 U.S. 249, 253 (1992)). 

Similarly, the defendant’s rule of lenity argument should 

fail.  The rule of lenity “assists the court in interpreting a 

criminal statute only if the statute is ambiguous,” and “comes into 

operation at the end of the process of construing what Congress has 

expressed, not at the beginning as an overriding consideration of 

being lenient to wrongdoers.”  United States v. Concepcion, 983 F.2d 

369, 380 (2d Cir. 1992) (quoting United States v. Turkette, 452 U.S. 

576, 587 n.10 (1981)(additional quotation marks and citation 

omitted).  Lenity does not, however, apply in the absence of 

“grievous ambiguity.”  United States v. Castleman, 134 S. Ct. 1405, 

1416 (2014) (citing Huddleston v. United States, 415 U.S. 814, 831 

(1974)); see Muscarello v. United States, 524 U.S. 125, 138-39 (1998) 

(“To invoke the rule, we must conclude that there is a grievous 

ambiguity or uncertainty in the statute.”) (quotation marks and 

citations omitted).  
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As demonstrated above, the statutory language relied on 

by the defendant does “not leave the provision’s meaning ‘genuinely 

in doubt’” and is not grievously ambiguous.  O’Donnell, 608 F.3d at 

555 (citation omitted).  Accordingly, the defendant’s lenity 

argument should be rejected as well. 

 CONCLUSION 

For the reasons set forth above, the Government 

respectfully requests that the Court deny the defendant’s motions 

to dismiss in entirety.  

Dated:  April 24, 2014 
   New York, New York 

 
Respectfully submitted, 

 
PREET BHARARA 
United States Attorney 

 
 
 

      By: _____/s/___________________________ 
Carrie H. Cohen/Paul M. Krieger 
Assistant United States Attorneys 
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